IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 22 1 9 %

CLERK, QUPRENE COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 86,02 1

RICHARD EUGENE HAMILTON,

Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HAMILTON COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 40 1 30 1 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 3230 1 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Richard Hamilton is the Appellant in this capital appeal. Anthony Wainwright is a co-defendant, and his case is also pending before this court. The record on appeal consists of 27 volumes. References to the record and transcripts will be by the usual "T."

This case is somewhat unusual in that both defendants were tried together before separate juries. This means that portions of the Record on Appeal apply to both defendants while others have relevance to only one. The transcripts indicate when the "Wainright jury" or the "Hamilton jury" was present, but there is some inherent danger that appellate counsel or this court may inadvertently rely on portions of Wainwright's record in its argument or opinion in Hamilton's case. The possibility that Wainwright's

record may "contaminate" Hamilton's appeal has prompted appellate counsel to insure that cited references pertain only to those portions of the record relevant to Hamilton's case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Hamilton County on July 15, 1994 charged the Appellant, Richard Hamilton, and Anthony Wainwright with one count of first degree murder, sexual battery, robbery, and kidnaping (R 2671-72). All of the charged crimes involved a firearm, He pled not guilty to those offenses (R 2674), and the case proceeded to trial in a manner typical for matters of this sort. Specifically, the state or the Defendant filed the following motions or notices relevant to this appeal:

- 1. Notice (by the State) of its intent to offer evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts (R 2689). This notice included events that allegedly occurred before and after the charged offenses (R 2689-90).
- 2. Motion in Limine regarding the offenses Hamilton and Wainwright allegedly committed in North Carolina and Mississippi before and after the charged offenses (R 3471-76). Granted as to one burglary in Mississippi, denied as to the other crimes that happened in that State and North Carolina (R 3602).
- 3. Motion for Severance of Defendants (R 3463). The trial court, on motion of the state (R 3169), ordered the Defendants tried at the same time, but before separate juries (R 3601).
- 4. Motion, Supplemental, and Second Supplemental Motion to Change Venue (R 3356, 3399). The court initially deferred ruling on the requests until jury selection (R 3603). After some effort had been made to find an impartial jury in Hamilton County, it

ordered venue moved to Clay County (R 3635-36).

5. Motion to Suppress Statements (R 353 1). Denied (R 3608).

As mentioned, the court moved the venue of Hamilton's and Wainwrights trials from Hamilton County to Clay County. Both Defendants were tried before Judge Vernon Douglas, and after the juries had heard the evidence, law, and argument, they found them guilty as charged on all counts (R 3879-3881).

Hamilton proceeded to the penalty phase portion of the trial. He objected to several of the penalty phase instructions (R 3883,393 1-3935, 4020, 4024), which the court denied (T 2147). The jury, after hearing evidence from the state and the Defendant, the law, and arguments, recommended, by a vote of 10-2, that Hamilton die (T 4106). The trial judge, following that recommendation, sentenced Hamilton to death. In aggravation, it found:

- 1. Hamilton was under sentence of imprisonment.
- 2. He had a prior conviction for aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer, and two convictions for robbery.
- 3. The murder was committed during the course of a robbery, sexual battery, and kidnaping.
 - 4. The murder was committed to avoid lawful arrest.
 - 5. It was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.
 - 6. It was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any

pretense of moral or legal justification.

The court found that none of the statutory mitigators applied, but it concluded that the following non-statutory mitigation was present:

- 1 Hamilton had grown up in a drug-ridden, crime infested neighborhood.
- 2. His mother was mentally ill.
- 3. He had suffered various traumas, including losing an eye from being shot by a B-B gun.
 - 4. He had good work habits and had earned a living.
 - 5. He assisted the police in locating the victim's body.

As to the other convictions, the court, departing from the recommended sentences (R 4 129-3 1), imposed the following punishment:

- 1. Armed robbery: life in prison without the possibility of parole for twenty-tive years. \$15,000 fine.
- 2. Armed Kidnaping: life in prison without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years. \$15,000 fine.
- 3. Armed Sexual Battery: Life in prison without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years. \$15,000 fine. A three year minimum mandatory sentence was also imposed for using a firearm during the sexual battery (R 4 133-4 143).

All sentences are to be served consecutively.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

About 7:30 in the morning of April 24, 1994 Richard Hamilton and Anthony Wainwright escaped from a North Carolina prison. They were at a minimum custody unit, and simply walked away (T 346-47, 896). Some friends or acquaintances picked them up, took them to a motel, and bought some clothes for them. The pair stole a green Cadillac the next day, and drove to a small town in North or South Carolina where they broke into a house and stole several guns and ammunition, including a .22 caliber single shot rifle and a 16 gauge semi-automatic shotgun (T 900). They eventually worked their way south, and by the morning of April 27 were in the Daytona Beach area. They stay cd there only a short while before deciding to head to New Orleans along the interstate highways (T 90 1-902).

By the time they approached Lake City, the Cadillac was overheating, so the pair pulled into a Winn Dixie parking lot to get another car (T 903). After watching the area for fifteen minutes Wainwright spotted Carmen Gayheart leaving the grocery store. As she put her groceries in her car (a Ford Bronco), Wainwright approached her, and using one of the stolen shotguns, forced her into her vehicle (T 904). He got in with her and drove away with Hamilton following in the Cadillac (T 905). A short while later he abandoned that car and got into the Bronco with Wainwright (T 638-39).

They headed north on 1-75, and during the next forty minutes Hamilton tried to calm Gayheart by assuring her they only wanted her car, and would let her go (T 907,

925). Sometime later, he had sex with her (T 908).

Traffic on I-75 had slowed to a stop, and Wainwright, fearing the police had set up a road block, turned the car around (T 907, 2306). He left that highway, eventually parking the car on a road. He had sex with Gayheart, and afterwards he told her to get out of the car and walk behind it and lay down (T 910). He then shot her twice in the back of the head with the stolen .22 caliber rifle (T 9 1 1). He told Hamilton that "I killed her. I finally killed one." (T 911) Relieved, he said he had "gotten one out of the way." (T 911) Wainwright drug the body into the nearby woods, and Hamilton did nothing to assist him (T 912). Indeed, Hamilton had no idea what Wainwright intended to do until he had killed Gayheart (T 926).

The pair left the area, and as they drove west they threw away Gayheart's clothes, some of her jewelry, and the rifle (T 913). On April 28, they drove the car through Brookhaven, Mississippi. A state Highway Patrol officer saw the vehicle, and noted that it had tinted windows darker than allowed by Mississippi law (T 402). As he followed it he decided to pull it over when it failed to reduce its speed as it drove through the town (T 403). Wainwright (who was driving) fled, and as the trooper gave chase Hamilton fired a

¹Gayheart's body was so decomposed when the medical examiner performed the autopsy that she could only conclude that the cause of death were the gunshot wounds (T 842, 846, 869). Hamilton said Wainwright had tried to strangle her before shooting her (T 910, 1810).

²Wainright told the police about two weeks after his arrest that "Hamilton said, 'You know what we've got to do?" And he understood "that yes, I know we've got to kill her." (T 1032)

shotgun at him two or three times (T 404-405), the pellets hitting the windshield and front end of the car. The Bronco eventually turned down a dead end street, and the officer waited for them to come back. He got out of his car and fired his shotgun four times at the approaching vehicle (T 413). It never slowed down, and as it passed him, it hit his car (T 413). Wainwright lost control of the Bronco, and it hit a tree (T 414). Both men got out. Hamilton had a shotgun and "looked as if he was trying to pump a shell into the barrel." The trooper shot him (T 415). Wainwright was found a few minutes later (T 464).

They were taken to a nearby hospital and their wounds treated (T 2264). While there the police tried to talk with Hamilton, but he refused to waive his right to remain silent (T 2325-26).

Eventually the defendant and Wainwright were transferred to a local jail where Hamilton admitted kidnaping, raping, and robbing Gayheart, and seeing Wainwright strangle and shoot her (T 645, 2306). He also tried to escape (T 556, 729-30). He wrote Wainwright that they had to flee, and might have to kill someone to do so (T 557-58, 692-95).

When questioned initially by the police, Hamilton refused to sign the rights waiver form, but he talked with them anyway (T 2253-54). He said they had found the Bronco at rest stop on the Interstate, and did not know what had happened to Mrs. Gayheart (T 2258). At later questionings he changed his story and became very cooperative (T 665).

He admitted having sex with her, and said Wainwright had killed her (T 2306). He also returned to Florida to help find Gayheart's body, and he provided a map which aided the Sheriffs Office in Hamilton County to find it (T 647,677, 2242).³

³He was the more cooperative of the two men (T 653).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Hamilton raises nine issues in this capital appeal. Eight of them present guilt phase arguments and one deals with a bad penalty phase jury instruction.

Anyone familiar with the facts of this case can only naturally be revolted by what happened and angry at the Defendants for what they allegedly did. Two escaped convicts come to Florida, kidnap a young mother, brutally rape her, and then kill her for no reason. It would seem that if ever the death penalty was deserved, Hamilton and Wainwright had earned it.

This understandable revulsion at the Defendants and what they did provided the emotional backdrop for this case, and it permeated the trial from the beginning to the end. It became evident early on when the court changed the venue, and it remained until the end when the jury recommended death. This emotional reaction to the murders had unfair help from the State, and for the reasons presented in this brief, this court should reverse Hamilton's Judgment and sentence and remand for a new trial.

Rather than seeking to quell the animosity towards the Defendants the State strengthened its case against Hamilton by improperly relying on inflammatory evidence or argument. In Issue I, a State rebuttal witness told the jury that Hamilton and Wainwright had killed some other people in North Carolina after their escape from prison there. The court recognized that such evidence inflamed, but it did nothing to reduce its impact on the jury. That was error.

This same witness also said Wainwright admitted he had strangled Mrs. Gayheart, but that testimony was different than what the State expected. Over objection, the prosecutor impeached its witness and got him to agree that the Co-defendant had said, "We strangled her." It was error to allow the State to do this because it enabled him to use as substantive evidence what should have been admissible only as proof that its witness lied. This error became more serious because this witness provided the only evidence Hamilton had done anything to kill Mrs. Gayheart. (ISSUE II.)

The State continued its attack on Hamilton's character by allowing the state to elicit from its witnesses that Hamilton had lied to the police on specific instances. The State can attack his character only if he had put it in issue, which he had not, and then only by evidence of his reputation, Destroying his character with instances of bad character is improper. (ISSUE III.)

This character attack became more effective because the court refused to instruct the jury on the only defense Hamilton wanted to present: withdrawal. While he admitted kidnaping, robbing, and raping the victim, he had repeatedly told her they had no intention of killing her. Indeed, they only wanted her car and intended to let her go. Wainwright acted on his own when he killed her because Hamilton had withdrawn from or never intended to participate in her death, Withdrawal, contrary to what the State argued, is a legitimate defense. Hamilton presented sufficient evidence to justify allowing the jury to consider it. (ISSUE IV.)

Taking advantage of the court's refusal to instruct on his only defense, the State in its closing argument blamed Hamilton for the victim's death by claiming he had to assume "a little bit of the responsibility for it" by bringing her to the "point of death."

Not only was that error, the State continued its "sub rosa" character argument by contrasting the Defendant's despicable character with that of the victim. Just before her death, all she "talked about was her children." Such emotional pleas are inappropriate generally and more so in this case because of the inherent sympathy we have for the victim and her family. (ISSUE V.)

The State had prepared the jury for this argument during the trial when a day care worker said that Mrs. Gayheart habitually picked up her children around noon. That she did not do so on the day of her death was relevant, the State argued, to establish the time of the crime. Such evidence, however, could not show that because what she did habitually she did not do on the day she disappeared. That is, evidence of habit can only confirm other evidence to show that a person likely acted according to that habit on the day in question. It cannot show that because she did not act according to habit, something was wrong. That she had two children in day care had relevance only to create sympathy for her. (ISSUE VI)

The court also erred in denying Hamilton's motion to suppress statements he had given various police officers. Initially, he told them he did not want to talk with them.

They whisked him away from the hospital where he had just undergone surgery, and took

him to the local jail. Within hours they were questioning him again, this time getting a confession from a "very cooperative" suspect. The police never "scrupulously honored" this injured and groggy Defendant's right to remain silent. (ISSUE VII.)

Perhaps the State used its emotional argument because its case against Hamilton, that he had participated in the murder of Gayheart, was weaker than it appears. After all, it had called Wainwright a "bald face liar," and he presented the most damaging evidence of the Defendant's intentions regarding the murder. Its case against Hamilton for sexually battering Mrs. Gayheart suggests the State had more problems than apparent. Without Hamilton's confession that he had raped her, it had insufficient evidence of any sexual battery. That is, the prosecution failed to produce enough evidence of the corpus delicti for that crime to allow his admissions. (ISSUE VIII.)

If the State could get a conviction it must have realized, as Hamilton did, that a death sentence was almost assured. Indeed, the Defendant's only penalty phase argument involves a challenge to the revised jury instruction on the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating factor. It still suffers the infirmities of being vague, particularly in its definition of premeditation. (ISSUE IX.)

Thus, this court should closely examine the guilt phase issues. There is a strong emotional undercurrent sweeping this case along, and when the trial judge refused to allow Hamilton to argue his only viable defense, the result was predictable. This court should stop this rush to find the Defendant guilty of Mrs. Gayheart's murder and reverse

for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING HAMILTON'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AFTER A STATE WITNESS TOLD THE JURY THAT WAINWRIGHT ADMITTED TO HIM THAT HE AND HAMILTON HAD KILLED "SOME BLACK PEOPLE" AFTER THEIR ESCAPE, A VIOLATION OF THIS DEFENDANT'S FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

After Hamilton had presented his case, the state called, as part of its rebuttal, a Robert Murphy. He had been an inmate at the Taylor County Jail the same time Wainwright had been housed there (T 1799). Indeed, both were in disciplinary confinement (T 1799). The state wanted Murphy to relate that Wainwright had talked to him about how he and Hamilton had kidnaped, raped, and ultimately murdered Mrs. Gayheart, The witness initially said Wainwright admitted that only he had murdered her. Unsatisfied with that response the State "refreshed" his recollection or impeached his witness, 4 so that he now admitted that Wainwright had told him "we strangled her." (T 1803)

The state then changed the focus of its inquiry.

- Q. Did he [Wainwright] say whether or not she was naked or clothed when she was killed?
- A. Naked
- Q. Did he tell you that he killed anybody else?

⁴Hamilton and Wainwright objected to the state impeaching its witness (T 1800-180 I).

A. He did. He mentioned something about after they had escaped on the way down from wherever they had escaped from, South Carolina, or North Carolina, somewhere, that they run across some black people, a drug dealer or whatever, they robbed and killed them. He didn't go into no detail about that. That was about it.

(T 1803-1804).

Hamilton's lawyer objected to the allegation of the other murder. "It is highly improper and extremely prejudicial. The Court has allowed incredible testimony related to crimes for which the defendant is not on trial." (T 1804-1805).

The prosecutor responded by saying that he was also surprised about the testimony of the North Carolina murders. "I expected Mr. Murphy to testify to the killing of a Mississippi State highway patrolman, and I was quite surprised by what he said. I was offering that testimony to show that Mr. Wainwright is a bald faced liar." (T 1805)

The court noted the state's blind spot, "He's not on trial for that, neither one of them are on trial for killing the trooper, either." (T 1805)

The court asked the state if they believed a curative instruction would do, and the prosecutor, quick to see which way the wind blew, admitted, "No sir, I don't object to a curative instruction. I think the curative instruction will do it." (T 1806)

Hamilton, however, was not so easily satisfied even when the prosecutor offered to stipulate there was no North Carolina murder (T 1806-1807).⁵ He saw problems not only

⁵Indeed, the stipulation would have accomplished what the state wanted: to show that Wainwright was a "bald faced liar." (T 1805, 1 SOS).

with the jury's consideration of an allegation he could not disprove (T 1806), but also with the fact finder using it as an aggravator during the penalty phase portion of the trial (T 1807). "[T]hat is one of the strongest aggravating circumstances that the State could ever present."

The court dropped the matter by saying, "All I can do, Mr. Hunt, if you were in this situation, all you could do is the best curative instruction you can do and leave it for the appellate." (T 1807-1808). Accordingly, the court denied Hamilton's motion for mistrial and told the jury: "Members of the jury, you are to disregard the last statement by this witness. It is not to play any part in your decisions in this case." (T 1810)

That was not all the court could have done. First, even if Murphy had given the expected testimony, the prosecution could not use specific instances of Wainwright lying to prove his character. Second, the "curative instruction" was not "the best curative instruction you can do." And, in any event, the trial judge should have granted Hamilton's motion for mistrial (T 1805), so this court would not now have to reverse for a new trial.

A. The evidence had no relevance other than to show Hamilton's bad character.

The fundamental problem the state created came from its desire to show

Wainwright to be a "bald faced liar." Even if Murphy said Wainwright had confessed to
killing a Mississippi Highway Patrol Trooper, that evidence would have been
inadmissible. The state wanted to prove that Wainwright had the character of a used car

salesman, which it could do.⁶ It created reversible error in the way it sought to do it. Section 90.405 Fla. Stats. (1994) provides the exclusive method for establishing a person's reputation:

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