## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 27 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By
Chief Daputy Clark

RICHARD EUGENE HAMILTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 86,021

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRXEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-1778

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Although we can sympathize with the defense attorney's frustration in questioning a less than sophisticated witness, it is apparent from the record that this damaging hearsay response was invited by defense counsel's question. We note that the witness had already stated twice that he himself had not seen Thompson when counsel asked the question, 'When did your crew see him?' Furthermore, the defense attorney initially told the trial judge that there was no need for a mistrial and that a curative instruction would suffice. The State did not utilize a hearsay testimony at any point throughout the remainder of the trial, and we specifically note no mention of it in final argument. We find that the trial judge did not err in refusing to grant a mistrial under these circumstances.

648 So.2d at 695.

Based on <u>Buenoano</u> and <u>Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u>, no relief should be granted as to this issue.

## **ISSUE II**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO IMPEACH ROBERT MURPHY WITH REGARD TO AN INCONSISTENT STATEMENT MURPHY MADE TO LAW ENFORCEMENT.

During Murphy's recital of what Wainwright told him with regard to Hamilton and Wainwright's escape from North Carolina and the subsequent crimes they committed, the State expected Wainwright to say that both Wainwright and Hamilton strangled Mrs. Gayheart before she was shot. (TR 1800-1801). When Murphy testified that Wainwright said, "I strangled her", the State attempted to refresh Murphy's testimony based on an interview at the Taylor County

Correctional Institution on February 23, 1995. (TR 1801). Defense counsel objected asserting that the State was improperly impeaching its own witness. The State responded that there was a prior inconsistent statement and it was merely trying to refresh Murphy's recollection. (TR 1802). The trial court allowed further inquiry. (TR 1802).

The following colloquy then occurred:

BY MR. DEKLE:

Q: Do you remember being interviewed at that time, February 23, 1995, at the Taylor County Correctional Institution?

A: By the FDLE?

Q: By FDLE agents?

A: Yes, sir, I remember.

Q: Do you remember at that time making a statement, 'Wainwright said we strangled her, and I shot her'?

A: Well, the way I explained it to the feds, or the FDLE, or whatever you call them, when they come and ask me about it, I may have, it seems like I did say 'we', but the way I told them, Wainwright was telling me that he strangled her, he was behind her and had something like in his hands or something, and from her back, in the way he explained it to me. And then that's when I went into detail about the puppy and the head and she was kicking and this and that, when he said he got the gun and shot her. So maybe I did say 'we'. I don't know.

Q: You don't know if you said 'we' or not?

A: I said maybe I did. I'm not saying I didn't. I can't remember. It was six months ago.

Q: Was your memory fresher as to what Mr. Wainwright said six months than what it is today?

A: I would imagine, yes.

Q: And at the time, wasn't it your memory that Mr. Wainwright said, 'We strangled her, and I shot her'?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: But then from the way he described it --

MR. HUNT: Judge, that's leading and arguing with the witness, and I object.

THE COURT: Sustained.

(TR 1802-1803).

Hamilton asserts that the aforecited colloquy evidences error on the part of the trial court in allowing the State to inquire of Murphy with regard to what was said. Citing to § 90.608(1), Fla.Stat. (1995), Hamilton admits that the State could impeach its own witness, however he asserts that it was error for the State to call Murphy for the purpose of impeaching him. (Appellant's Brief, pg. 25).

Clearly, the State did not call Mr. Murphy for the purpose of impeaching him. If anything, as reflected by Hamilton in his brief on page 26, "Murphy's testimony that only Wainwright strangled Gayheart differed from what the prosecutor expected him to say: That Wainwright and Hamilton had strangled her." To suggest, as Hamilton now does, that one can glean from this record that the sole purpose for calling Murphy was to impeach him is not supported by this record. Hamilton can point to no authority which supports his contention that reversal should obtain because he was denied a fair trial at this point.

Indeed, the State's attempt to impeach Murphy brought out before the jury that Wainwright likely strangled and then shot Mrs. Gayheart, supporting the defense's theory of the case. No reversible error has been demonstrated.

Citing <u>Ivery v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 887 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989),
Hamilton further asserts that the mistake by the trial court was
compounded because the court never instructed the jury that an
inconsistent statement had relevancy 'only as impeachment and not
to prove Hamilton's guilt." (Appellant's Brief, pg. 26). <u>Ivery</u> is
distinguishable in that trial counsel specifically requested 'the
court to instruct the jury that the evidence tending to impeach
Walton was not introduced to prove the truth of the matter asserted

but only as evidence of Walton's lack of credibility." 548 So.2d at 888. Said request was denied. No such request occurred here. The District Court held it was error for the trial court not to instruct the jury "that Walton's prior inconsistent statement was relevant only to Walton's credibility and not as proof or evidence of the defendant's guilt" 548 So.2d at 888, and further determined that the error could not be harmless because "the only other evidence against the defendant was circumstantial and certainly not compelling. Absent Walton's prior inconsistent statement, the evidence against the defendant will not withstand the harmless error test of State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)." 548 So.2d at 888 (emphasis added).

In the instant case, the error, if any in this case, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt pursuant to <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). No relief should be forthcoming as to this claim.

### ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO ELICIT TESTIMONY FROM FDLE AGENT ROBERT KINSEY AS TO WHETHER HAMILTON HAD LIED TO OR DECEIVED THE POLICE.

Hamilton next takes issue with the State's redirect examination of FDLE Agent Robert Kinsey, concerning how truthful

and forthright Hamilton had been with police concerning the murder of Mrs. Gayheart and the subsequent location of her body.

elicited from Agent Kinsey on Defense counsel examination that Hamilton had provided information with regard to the location of Mrs. Gayheart's body (TR 919); including a diagram of how to find the body (TR 919); that he had volunteered to return to Florida to help locate the body (TR 919); that although Hamilton was given his constitutional rights, he never asked to speak to an attorney (TR 921); never refused to answer any questions put to him by police (TR 921), and to the officer's knowledge, Hamilton never told him anything that was contradictory "regarding his chain of events that began with him leaving prison on the 24th . . . up to the point that he arrived at the Winn Dixie parking lot." 922).

On cross-examination of Agent Kinsey, Mr. Hunt asked:

Q: Mr. Hamilton admitted to you that he committed a sexual battery upon the victim?

A: Yes, sir, he did.

Q: And he also told **you** that Anthony Wainwright did the same thing?

A: Yes, sir, he did.

Q: Did he tell you that he had no plans whatsoever to kill her?

- A: He indicated during the interview that he didn't realize what had eventually happened was going to happen until it did happen.
- Q: In other words, he and Wainwright had not, from what he told you, had not talked about killing her?
- A: That's correct.
- Q: And apparently Wainwright had not announced his intention to kill her before he actually did it?
- A: As I stated earlier, he said that Mr. Wainwright got out of the Bronco with a T-shirt in his hand and had Mrs. Gayheart lay face down on the ground. He did not realize that she was going to be killed until such time as Mr. Wainwright started strangling her.
- Q: Did Hamilton admit to having any part in strangling her, other than what you described?
- A: No, sir.
- Q: Did he admit having any part in dragging her body to the point it was found?
- A: No, sir. He specifically said he did not have anything to do with moving the body after she was deceased.
- Q: Did he admit or tell you that he in any way aided or encouraged Mr. Wainwright to kill Mrs. Gayheart?
- A: No, sir, he didn't.
- Q: From what Mr. Hamilton told you, did Wainwright himself cover or attempt to cover, the body in this case before they left?

A: Yes, sir, he said he tried to put some items over the body, like some leaves and limbs and stuff like that, things that were readily available to him there in the area.

(TR 925-927).

Prior to redirect, the State asked the court to rule whether the truthfulness of defendant Hamilton was at issue. Following discussion, the court determined that questions would be permitted on redirect as to discrepancies between what Hamilton told Agent Kinsey and the facts of the case. (TR 932). Redirect commenced at (TR 932-935) without specific objection by defense counsel as to any inquiries made. Recross-examination of agent Kinsey commenced at (TR 936) and continued through (TR 942). Defense counsel was permitted, without objection, to explore with Agent Kinsey Hamilton's cooperation with the police.

It is difficult to ascertain the exact error Hamilton asserts occurred during the course of the total testimony of Agent Kinsey. A fair exchange was made with regard to direct and cross-examinations by both the State and the defense as to what Hamilton told Agent Kinsey as it related to the facts of the case. Contrary to Hamilton's assertion that there has been a violation of §90.404(1), Fla.Stat. (1994), the State would submit that Hamilton's good character was not the issue herein, rather the

questions elicited by the State on redirect and further explored on recross dealt with whether Agent Kinsey was accurate in his representation of what Hamilton told him as they related to the facts and circumstances surrounding the murder and the recovery of Mrs. Gayheart's body. Moreover, comments concerning the location of the gun and whether Hamilton accurately provided information to its location was a fair exploration of the facts and circumstances of the case. Hamilton has pointed to no authorities which suggest reversal is mandated in the instant case. The State would submit that no error occurred, however should this Court ascertain that the trial court erred in its ruling with regard to whether Hamilton's truthfulness was at issue, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, supra.

#### ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY, AS REQUESTED, ON THE DEFENSE THAT HAMILTON WITHDREW FROM THE PLAN TO MURDER MRS. GAYHEART.

The crux of Hamilton's argument is the trial court erred in denying Hamilton's counsel request for a jury instruction on the defense of withdrawal. Citing <u>Hooper v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1985), and especially <u>Smith v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1983), Hamilton asserts that the issue "is whether there was 'any

evidence' Hamilton had withdrawn from the plan to kill Mrs. Gayheart." (Appellant's Brief, pg. 34).

Hamilton's defense at trial was not that he withdrew from a plan to kill Mrs. Gayheart, rather the evidence he presented both cross-examination of the state witnesses and in the defense's case in chief, was that he knew nothing about any plan to kill Mrs. Gayheart and that he continually informed her during the kidnapping, rape and robbery that no harm would come to her. Clearly there is a significant distinction between an individual withdrawing from a plan to kill somebody versus an individual never contemplating a murder at all. In fact, the testimony of Investigator Williams, as well Agent Kinsey, reflects that the statements made to them by Hamilton, Hamilton said that he kept telling Mrs. Gayheart they were not going to hurt her. testimony of Dennis Givens and William Bispham was geared to what co-defendant Wainwright said to them regarding Wainwright's role in To suggest that these statements were "evidence" to the murder. support a withdrawal by Hamilton is totally unfounded. To that end, had the trial court granted Hamilton's request for an instruction on withdrawal, nothing but confusion would have reigned.

Although Hamilton, in his brief, mentions in passing the testimony of Mallory Daniels, one of the State's witnesses, he does not acknowledge the full extent of Deputy Sheriff Daniels testimony. Deputy Sheriff Daniels testified that he interviewed co-defendant Wainwright regarding the death of Carmen Gayheart. (TR 1817). During the course of that interview, Wainwright told Deputy Sheriff Daniels that they arrived in Lake City on April 27 around noon. They stopped at a Winn Dixie because they needed to steal another car and saw the victim driving a 1987 blue Bronco. (TR 1817-1818). Wainwright's accounting of the events leading up to Mrs. Gayheart's murder were that Hamilton got out of the car with a sawed-off shotgun and forced Mrs. Gayheart back into her car. (TR 1818). Wainwright stated that that was the first he knew about the abduction and Hamilton told Wainwright to follow them in the Cadillac. After transferring guns and other "stuff" into the Bronco, Wainwright drove down the Interstate. (TR 1819). Wainwright said that Hamilton got in the back seat with the woman, slapped her around because she was crying and made her take her clothes off and raped her. (TR 1819-1820). Wainwright said that Hamilton made Mrs. Gayheart perform oral sex and after the rape, it was Hamilton who told Wainwright to exit on State Road 6 and go drive into a woody area. Hamilton then raped Mrs. Gayheart a second time. (TR 821). Mrs. Gayheart kept crying and asked if she was going to be let go at which point Hamilton told her they were not going to kill her, however he told Wainwright that they could not turn her loose and at some point thereafter, he took her out of the Bronco, put a towel over her head and shot her twice. (TR 1822). Wainwright said that Hamilton took her body into the woods, covered her up and removed her rings and jewelry. (TR 1822). Wainwright never admitted raping Mrs. Gayheart and told Deputy Sheriff Daniels it was Hamilton who got the guns in North Carolina. (TR 1824).

The State would submit that the instant case is identical to that of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 726, 732 (Fla. 1983), wherein the Court held:

Appellant contends that he is entitled to an instruction on withdrawal because his last pretrial statement, which was entered into evidence by way of police testimony, said that Copeland was the killer and that Appellant tried to talk Copeland out of killing the girl. The testimony of Hall was that Copeland and Smith both agreed to the killing. testimony made no mention of any communication withdrawal by Appellant during the automobile trip from the motel to the murder Defense counsel surely could have attempted to bring out such facts on crossexamination if Hall had heard any renunciation.

As was pointed out above, the evidence upon which Appellant relied in arguing that he was entitled to the instruction is his final pretrial statement. It is worthy of note that Appellant moved to suppress his pretrial statement and that the denial of his motion to suppress is made the subject of one of his points on this appeal.

correctly points Appellant out defendant is entitled to have the instructed on the rules of law applicable to his theory of defense if there is any evidence support such instructions. If there is omitted). any evidence of withdrawal, an instruction should be given. The trial judge should not weigh the evidence for the purpose of determining whether the instruction is appropriate. Appellant's pretrial statement, however, testified to by a state witness, seems hardly sufficient to raise the issue of withdrawal in view of the above discussed facts. Without formulating any general harmless error rule regarding improper denial of instructions on defenses, we hold that here the error, if any, was harmless. . . .

424 So.2d at 732 (emphasis added).

Unlike <u>Smith however</u>, in the instant case, there was never any statement by Hamilton that he tried to talk Wainwright out of killing Mrs. Gayheart. If anything, to reiterate, Hamilton said he did not know anything about the murder. Moreover, in addition to the similar facts of <u>Smith</u>, Deputy Sheriff Daniels detailed to the jury the fact that Wainwright said Hamilton was the murderer. <u>See</u>

<u>Butler v. State</u>, 493 So.2d 451, 452 (Fla. 1986), wherein the Court

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